JAN 26 2017 WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

3

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHARI FURNSTAHL, as guardian ad litem for C.F., a minor child,

Petitioner,

v.

#### JONNIE BARR and SUE BARR, husband and wife, and PUYALLUP BASKETBALL ACADEMY,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

James W. Beck, WSBA No. 34208 Stephanie Bloomfield, WSBA No. 24251 Shelly M. Andrew, WSBA No. 41195 GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP 1201 Pacific Avenue, Suite 2100 P. O. Box 1157 Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500 Attorneys for Petitioner



4823-8875-6287

##

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Shari Furnstahl, is Guardian ad Litem for her minor child C.F. who was the victim of sexual misconduct by Respondent Jonnie Barr when she was seven. Furnstahl was the prevailing party in a subsequent civil case against Barr and seeks costs under RCW 9.68A.130.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of a Published Opinion of Division I of the Court of Appeals: *Furnstahl v. Barr*, No. 75636-2-1 which is the first Washington decision interpreting RCW 9.68A.130 – "No appellate opinion has previously specifically discussed the requirements of RCW 9.68A.130." Opinion at 5. The Opinion is attached as Appendix A.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether RCW 9.68A.130 provides a remedy for costs to all prevailing minor victims of sexual crime?

2. Whether pursuant to RCW 9.68A.130 and CR 54(d) the trial court determines a prevailing party's entitlement to costs through a post-trial motion, rather than through a jury trial?

3. Whether the right to jury trial under article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution extends to determinations exclusively related to a party's entitlement to costs when those costs are not an element of damages and the statute does not provide any further relief?

#### **D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

C.F. was a student at Puyallup Basketball Academy ("PBA"), a business operated by Jonnie Barr. RP 67, 106. Barr started grooming C.F. through both words and conduct when she was seven-years-old by telling her he loved her and he wanted to marry her. RP 324-25, 676-77. His conduct progressed to kissing C.F. on the mouth, kissing her with his tongue in her mouth, kissing her while sexually aroused, and touching her private area (described as "her upper thigh private parts" RP 607). CP 414-439.

Jonnie Barr was charged with fourth degree assault with sexual motivation. CP 390-91. Later, the court entered a finding of guilt. CP 393-398. In his plea, Barr stated: "I plead guilty to the crime(s) of Assault 4 as charged in the complaint(s) or citation(s) and notice." CP 397. During his hearing, the prosecutor made an oral motion to remove the sexual motivation allegation, which the court granted without written memorization. CP 1371-79. There were also no findings as required by RCW 9.94A.835, which limits the withdraw of sexual motivation to cases where there is a judicial finding of an error in the initial charging or a finding of evidentiary problems making proof of the allegation "doubtful."

On April 18, 2014, C.F., filed a civil lawsuit. CP 1. Her lawsuit

4823-8875-6287

alleged various causes of action, including assault, battery, invasion of privacy, negligence and outrage and requested an award of attorney fees and costs as allowed by Washington law. Id. The lawsuit proceeded to a jury trial where Barr admitted his "hugging and kissing" was "intentional offensive unpermitted contact." RP 925-26 ("The conduct I was admitting to was hugging and kissing"). Dr. Larry Arnholt, a phycologist, conducted multiple counseling sessions with Barr. RP 235. During their first session. Barr told Arnholt that "his tongue went on her lips and went into her mouth as it did with his wife and referred to it as a Freudian slip." RP 236 (emphasis added). Barr further told Arnholt that "he was aroused because the French kiss, as it was called, or Freudian slip. reminded him of how he and his wife kissed." RP 237 (emphasis added). Barr told Arnholt that this conduct occurred while C.F was "on his lap." Id. During the trial, C.F. also testified about what had happened. She explained that "he started saying that, 'I love you. I can't live without you. I love you so much.' And he kept on saving that countless times. And he hugged me and kissed me on the cheek. And he said, 'This will be our little secret."" RP 676-77. C.F. testified "he started to pick me up and kissing me on the lips. And then he started putting his tongue in my mouth and started touching my private parts." RP 677. The jury found for C.F. on all claims against Barr, except false imprisonment. CP 322-325.

On November 24, 2015, C.F. filed a motion for costs, including reasonable attorney fees, under RCW 9.68A.130. CP 326. Barr opposed C.F.'s motion, arguing that without pleading RCW 9.68A.130 with specificity or having a jury determine whether Barr's conduct violated RCW 9.68A.090, the trial court was without authority to enter an award of costs. CP 611, 670. The trial court agreed with Barr. CP 1363.

After a transfer to Division I of the Court of Appeals, the Court issued a Published Opinion affirming the trial court's decision. In its Opinion, the Court of Appeals adopted the trial court's reasoning that RCW 9.68A.130 creates an independent cause of action: "Plaintiff did not sue or assert claims under Chapter RCW 9.68A." Opinion at 11.

Second, the Court of Appeals limited the conduct covered by RCW 9.68A.130, noting sexual crimes against children such as rape, molestation, or assault with sexual motivation were outside the statue's scope: "While it is true that chapter 9.68A RCW contains several provisions that set forth crimes against children, it is also true that other provisions of the Revised Code of Washington also make criminal the sexual abuse of children. [] Violations of these latter provisions are not referenced in RCW 9.68A.130 and are, therefore, not encompassed within its embrace." Opinion at 6 (footnote omitted).

Third, the Court of Appeals held that under the Washington

4

Constitution, a jury, not a judge, must make all factual determinations related to whether a party is entitled to costs: "Furnstahl asserts that the trial judge, not the jury, must determine, after the jury's verdict, whether the requesting party established the predicate for an entitlement to an award of attorney fees. . . . Rather, in keeping with the principles enshrined in Washington's Constitution, in a jury trial, it is the jury who must declare the facts found to be proved." Opinion at 8.

#### E. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erroneously affirmed for four reasons: (1) all sexual assaults against minor children are covered by RCW 9.68A.130 when read in conjunction with RCW 9.68A.090 and *C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999); (2) under CR 54(d) the judge, not the jury, decides whether costs are awarded to a prevailing party pursuant to a statutory provision; (3) RCW 9.68A.130 does not create an independent cause of action; and (4) there is no right to jury trial regarding the applicability of a cost statute, which does not provide any additional relief such as damages.

In deciding a petition for review, this Court considers four criteria:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the

5

State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Here, the decision is in conflict with decisions from the Supreme Court, it is in conflict with decisions from the Court of Appeals, it raises significant questions under the Washington Constitution, and it also involves issues of substantial public interest that the Supreme Court should decide. Each of these reasons for review is discussed below.

#### A. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Is In Conflict With Decisions From This Court And Decisions From The Court Of Appeals.

The decision below is in conflict with decisions from this Court and the Court of Appeals. These issues are two-fold. First, the holding that a jury, rather than the Court, makes determinations necessary to entitle a party to costs stands in conflict with a number of Washington decisions. Second, holding RCW 9.68A.130 does not extend to protect all minor victims of sexual crimes is in conflict with this Court's precedent.

1. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Conflicts With CR 54(d) And Washington Decisions Holding That The Entitlement To Costs Is Determined Through Post-Trial Motion.

The Court of Appeals held that for Petitioner to be entitled to costs, a jury must make a factual determination beyond what was necessary for Petitioner to prevail on her civil causes of action. There is no civil cause of action that Furnstahl could have brought pursuant to chapter 9.68A RCW. Beyond the statute at issue, which is limited to recovering costs as a result of prevailing on a different cause of action, chapter 9.68A RCW is exclusively criminal code. Beyond the Court of Appeals' holding, there is no similar Washington precedent where a jury is required to answer a special interrogatory establishing facts beyond what is required to prevail on the substantive claim in order to acquire litigation costs, including fees.

This Court has adopted the Superior Court Civil Rules (CR) to "govern the procedure in the superior court in all suits of a civil nature whether cognizable as cases at law or in equity with the exceptions stated in rule 81." CR 1. In turn, CR 81 explains that, "these rules supersede all procedural statutes and other rules that may be in conflict." CR 81(b). Thus, the Civil Rules control the court's procedural operations.

The rule adopted by this Court to govern a party's entitlement to costs or fees is CR 54(d). This rule explains that the Court, either through a cost bill or post-trial motion, will determine a prevailing party's entitlement, unless attorney's fees are an element of damages:

(d) Costs, Disbursements, Attorneys' Fees, and Expenses.

(1) Costs and Disbursements. Costs and disbursements shall be fixed and allowed as provided in RCW 4.84 or by any other applicable statute. If the party to whom costs are awarded does not file a cost bill or an affidavit detailing disbursements within 10 days after the entry of the judgment, the clerk shall tax costs and disbursements pursuant to CR 78(e). (2) Attorneys' Fees and Expenses. Claims for attorneys' fees and expenses, other than costs and disbursements, shall be made by motion unless the substantive law governing the action provides for the recovery of such fees and expenses as an element of damages to be proved at trial. Unless otherwise provided by statute or order of the court, the motion must be filed no later than 10 days after entry of judgment.

When applying CR 54(d), this Court has held it is a question for the court to determine whether a particular statute authorizes an award of costs or fees. "Whether a statute authorizes an award of attorney fees is likewise a question of law reviewed *de novo.*" *Niccum v. Enquist*, 175 Wn.2d 441, 446, 286 P.3d 966 (2012). The Court of Appeals has recognized this same principle. In *Hickok-Knight v. Wal-Mart Stores*, *Inc.*, 170 Wn. App. 279, 325, 284 P.3d 749 (2012), the Court observed "we review *de novo* whether a statute, contract, or equitable theory authorizes the award." In *Deep Water Brewing*, *LLC v. Fairway Resources*. *Ltd.*, 152 Wn. App. 229, 277, 215 P.3d 990 (2009), the Court explained "[w]hether a specific statute, contract provision, or recognized ground in equity authorizes an award of fees is a question of law."

Washington has long recognized that costs are decided by post-trial motion rather ancillary jury determinations. *Lujan v. Santoya*, 41 Wn.2d 499, 501, 250 P.2d 543 (1953). In *Lujan*, the defendants "contend[ed] that the judgment should not have included plaintiffs' costs, because they were not prayed for in the complaint ....." *Id.* Rejecting the

argument, this Court reasoned: "The allowance of costs, on the other hand, is governed by statute. A prayer for them is unnecessary." *Id*.

Another example of where the judge, rather than jury, decides the entitlement to costs is *Firchau v. Gaskill*, 88 Wn.2d 109, 115, 558 P.2d 194 (1977). In *Firchau*, this Court was faced with a constitutional challenge to RCW 26.09.140, which granted the trial court the authority to award costs, in dissolution proceedings. There, this Court observed that:

RCW 26.09.140 does not provide for a jury trial on the reasonableness of attorney fees. It grants the court the power to award the fees and costs. The power of the court to require one spouse to pay the attorney fees of the other spouse has existed since prior to the adoption of the constitution. [] Inherent in this grant of power is the discretion to grant or deny the award of attorney fees ....

Id. at 115 (emphasis added).

Similarly, RCW 4.84.185 provides for a procedural mechanism whereby a prevailing party files a post-trial motion and the trial court makes the factual determination of whether an action was frivolous thereby entitling a party to costs, including fees. RCW 4.84.185 (emphasis added) provides, in relevant part:

In any civil action, the court having jurisdiction may, upon written findings by the judge that the action, counterclaim, cross-claim, third party claim, or defense was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause, require the nonprevailing party to pay the prevailing party the reasonable expenses, including fees of attorneys, incurred in opposing such action, counterclaim, cross-claim, third party claim, or defense. This determination shall be made upon motion by the prevailing party <u>after</u> a voluntary or involuntary order of dismissal, order on summary judgment, <u>final judgment after trial</u>, or other final order terminating the action as to the prevailing party. <u>The</u> judge shall consider all evidence presented at the time of the motion to determine whether the position of the nonprevailing party was frivolous and advanced without reasonable cause.

This Court approved of the process explaining it applies an abuse of discretion review to the decision under RCW 4.84.185. *State ex rel. Quick-Ruben v. Verharen*, 136 Wn.2d 888, 903, 969 P.2d 64 (1998). Multiple Court of Appeals decisions have affirmed the court's power to determine if an action is frivolous through motion practice. *See, e.g., Timson v. Pierce Cty. Fire Dist. No. 15*, 136 Wn. App. 376, 386, 149 P.3d 427 (2006); *Reid v. Dalton*, 124 Wn. App. 113, 123, 100 P.3d 349 (2004).

Finally, "[w]here a Washington civil rule is identical to its federal counterpart, federal cases interpreting the federal rule are highly persuasive." *Casper v. Esteb Enter., Inc.,* 119 Wn. App. 759, 767, 82 P.3d 1223 (2004). Comparing the relevant text of CR 54(d)(2) with its federal counterpart, Fed. R. Civ. P. 54, shows they are almost substantively identical except the federal rule grants a few more days to file a motion for fees than the state version. Under the federal rule, the entitlement to costs and fees is determined through a post-trial motion. *Riordan v. State Farm, Mut. Auto Ins. Co.,* 589 F.3d 999 (9th Cir. 2009). The federal procedure allows for fact finding similar to what is done under RCW 4.84.185. *Id.* 

at 1006 ("State Farm's argument that it was prejudiced by lack of notice is not persuasive. Rule 54(d)(2) allows parties to submit evidence and arguments regarding attorney fees, and provides that the motion may be referred to a magistrate judge for disposition.").

In summary, the Court of Appeals decision holds a jury, and not the trial court, must make all factual determinations, even when those determinations are exclusively and only related to a party's entitlement to costs. This decision is not consistent with prior Washington law.

## 2. The Court Of Appeals' Decision Is In Conflict With C.J.C. v. Corp. of Catholic Bishop of Yakima.

The decision below incorrectly holds that not all sexual crimes against a minor child will fall within the scope of RCW 9.68A.130. The decision is inconsistent with the liberal construction provided to remedial statutes, particularly those enacted for important policy objectives. See Appellant's Br. at 14. Specifically, the Court concluded:

The text of RCW 9.68A.130 expressly references "violation of this chapter." (Emphasis added.) While it is true that chapter 9.68A RCW contains several provisions that set forth crimes against children, it is also true that other provisions of the Revised Code of Washington also make criminal the sexual abuse of children. Violations of these latter provisions are not referenced in RCW 9.68A.130 and are, therefore, not encompassed within its embrace.

Thus, Furnstahl's argument that RCW 9.68A.130 entitles any plaintiff who prevails in a case arising from any type of sexual abuse or assault against a minor to an award of attorney fees is not supported by the wording of the statute itself.

Opinion at 6 (footnote omitted).

This holding is in conflict with *C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d 699 where this Court held that the same underlying offense to which Furnstahl points, communications with a minor for immoral purposes, would capture a wide range of sexual misconduct, including fondling a child. In *C.J.C.*, the Court was called upon to interpret RCW 4.16.340, the statute that tolls causes of action for "childhood sexual abuse" a phrase defined in the statute as "an act committed by the defendant . . . which act would have been <u>a\_violation</u> of RCW 9A.44 or RCW 9.68A.040 or prior laws of similar effect at the time the act was committed." *Id.* (emphasis added). In particular, the Court was required to determine whether the conduct was based on "childhood sexual abuse." First, without jury involvement, the Court held the statute applies if the "gravamen" is childhood sexual abuse:

[U]nder the facts presented here, intentional sexual abuse is the predicate conduct upon which all claims are based, including the negligence claims. The alleged sexual abuse is essentially an element of the plaintiffs' negligence claims. Absent the abuse, plaintiffs would not have suffered any injury and their negligence claims could not stand. Thus, the "gravamen" of plaintiffs' claims is that defendants are liable for injuries resulting from acts of intentional sexual abuse.

Id. at 709-710 (emphasis in original).

Next, specific to C.J.C.'s circumstances, the Court explained that it

"must decide whether the alleged sexual misconduct of Fathers Scully and

Calhoun (the Priests) constitutes 'childhood sexual abuse' within the meaning of the statute." *Id.* at 714. There, "[t]he abuse consisted of fondling and masturbatory acts performed on C.J.C. by the priests." *Id.* at 705. Through this conduct, C.J.C. argued "the Priests communicated with him for an immoral purpose." *Id.* The Court agreed, reasoning communications for an immoral purpose "applied to misconduct of a sexual nature whether or not precisely defined within the statute itself." *Id.* at 715. Ultimately, the Court held: "We find the Priests' conduct meets the definition of 'childhood sexual abuse' as defined in RCW 4.16.340."

Id. at 716. The C.J.C. Court explained:

We gave the phrase "communication with a minor for immoral purposes" a "commonsense understanding," holding that "any spoken word or course of conduct with a minor for purpose of sexual misconduct is prohibited." . . . We upheld the conviction of a man who had merely attempted to entice young girls into the back of his van for sexual purposes. Here, defendants allegedly engaged in actual sexual misconduct.

*Id.* at 715-16 (citations omitted). Under Washington law, "[a] lesser included offense exists when all of the elements of the lesser offense are necessary elements of the greater offense." *State v. Bishop*, 90 Wn.2d 185, 191, 580 P.2d 259 (1978). Considering that communication with a minor for immoral purpose prohibits words and conduct, a party cannot commit the crimes of rape, molestation, or assault with sexual motivation without also communicating for an immoral purpose.

In reaching its decision, this Court should harmonize the minor sexual abuse tolling statute and the related costs statute. RCW 4.16.340 and RCW 9.68A.130 are textually analogous statutes and are both triggered by underlying conduct that violates RCW 9.68A.090. The only distinction is that the former uses the phrase "based on" while the later uses the term "arising." This is, however, a distinction without a difference. Webster's Third New International Dictionary defines "based on" as "that on which something rests or stands . . . ." *C.J.C.*, 138 Wn.2d at 709. The same dictionary defines "arising" as "to originate from a specified source." Webster's Third New International Dictionary 117 (1981). Both RCW 4.16.340 and RCW 9.68A.130 are triggered if the "based on" or "arising from" conduct is criminalized by RCW 9.68A.090.

Because C.F.'s causes of action would certainly fit within the parameters for tolling the statute of limitations under RCW 4.16.340, then they should also entitle her to costs under RCW 9.68A.130. Instead, the Court of Appeals in this case concluded that not all sexual misconduct with a minor triggers RCW 9.68A.130. This decision is in conflict with C.J.C. The decision also sets up the inconsistent situation where a claim would have the statute of limitations tolled for minor sexual abuse, but the analogous cost statute is not necessarily triggered after the plaintiff prevails on the underlying cause of action. This Court should accept

review and hold the same conduct satisfies both RCW 4.16.340 and RCW 9.68A.130.

#### B. The Decision Raises A Significant Constitutional Question.

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