### RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Feb 16, 2017, 11:08 am

### RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 94074-6 Court of Appeals No. 75636-2-I

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHARI FURNSTAHL, as guardian ad litem for C.F., a minor child,

### Plaintiff-Petitioner

v.

JONNIE BARR and SUE BARR, husband and wife, and PUYALLUP BASKETBALL ACADEMY,

Defendants-Respondents.

### ANSWER OF DEFENDANTS/RESPONDENTS SUE BARR AND PUYALLUP BASKETBALL ACADEMY TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

# A. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals decision and other case law, statutes or rules.

Plaintiff attempts to raise several conflicts between the Court of Appeals decision and other published opinions and civil rules in an effort to secure review. Her arguments are unpersuasive. The fact remains that if plaintiff would have simply asked the jury the basis for their award, or asked whether the conduct found amounted to a violation of RCW 9.68A, this appeal would have been avoided.

# 1. The plain language of the statute requires a finding of conduct amounting to a violation of RCW 9.68A to trigger applicability of the attorneys' fees provision.

The plain language of the statute requires a finding of a violation of RCW 9.68A before recovery of attorneys' fees and costs is permitted. The statute reads: "A minor prevailing in a civil action *arising from violation of this chapter* is entitled to recover the costs of the suit, including an award of reasonable attorneys' fees." RCW 9.68A.130 (emphasis added).

Appellate courts give words in a statute their plain and ordinary meaning unless a contrary intent is evidenced in the statute. *See Erection Co. v. Department Labor & Indus.*, 121 Wn.2d 513, 518, 852 P.2d 288 (1993). Where the statutory language is clear and unambiguous, the statute's meaning is determined from its language alone. *See Multicare Med. Ctr. v. Department of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 114 Wn.2d 572, 582, 790 P.2d 124 (1990).

Since there were no SECA claims pled or argued to the jury, nor were there any jury instructions regarding SECA claims, nor was the jury asked the basis for their award on the verdict form, nor were they asked to segregate damages based on either defendant and/or claim, there is no record upon which to claim that the jury found a SECA violation. Since it is pure speculation to assume that plaintiff prevailed on a civil action arising from a violation of RCW 9.68A, the plain language of the statute precludes an award of fees.

### 2. In an effort to create a conflict, plaintiff ignores the Court of Appeals discussion of the *Kuhn* opinion, which has direct bearing on the issues here.

Plaintiff completely ignores the Court of Appeals' discussion of *Kuhn v. Schnall*, 155 Wn. App. 560, which highlights the dangers of the position advocated by plaintiff in this case. The *Kuhn* case is unique in that its procedural posture of a bifurcated trial particularly highlights the error in plaintiff's analysis.

Plaintiff argues that the trial court should assume that in finding for the plaintiff, the jury found conduct amounting to a SECA violation absent any indication that the jury so found. *Kuhn* illustrates how such an assumption may not exist in reality.

In *Kuhn*, plaintiffs brought claims for medical negligence, sexual battery, outrage and negligent infliction of emotional distress (hereinafter "NIED") related to allegations that Dr. Schnall conducted inappropriate and excessive genital exams on minor patients, as well as other violations of "appropriate physician-patient boundaries." *Id.* at 565-66. Prior to trial, the court allowed plaintiffs to amend their Complaint to "assert claims for attorney fees under RCW § 9.68A.130 based on allegations that Schnall had communicated for immoral purposes with patient-plaintiffs while they were minors, in violation of RCW § 9.68A.090." *Id.* at 565.<sup>2</sup>

The court bifurcated the trial,<sup>3</sup> and the jury was first asked to decide on the negligence, battery, outrage and NIED claims. *Id.* Following a plaintiffs' verdict on negligence and NIED, the jury was then asked to determine whether or not Dr. Schnall communicated with minors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Plaintiff here never sought to amend her complaint nor did she attempt to instruct or argue to the jury that Jonnie Barr's conduct amounted to a violation of RCW9.68A. Counsel never requested such relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> It is important to note that neither defendants nor the Court of Appeals advocate that bifurcation is required under RCW 9.68A.130. The statute does not mandate such a procedure. *See Furnstahl v. Barr*, 197 Wn. App. at 176 ("While a bifurcated procedure is not mandated, this fact-finding approach is in line with a proper understanding of the province of the jury and the requirements of RCW 9.68A.130."). However, for purposes of this appeal, it was the trial court's decision to bifurcate in *Kuhn* which brought the issue of how assumption of factual bases for verdicts is dangerous and potentially inaccurate into such stark focus.

for immoral purposes. *Id.* The jury was not informed that "plaintiffs' claim of communication with a minor for immoral purposes was related to attorney fees." *Id.* The jury found that Dr. Schnall did not violate RCW 9.68A.090. *Id.* at 567.

The legal issues raised in the *Kuhn* appeal are not applicable to the present case. *Id.* However, the case through its unique procedural posture clearly and articulately distinguished the role of the trial court and the role of the jury in awarding attorneys' fees under RCW 9.68A.130. It is the jury's role to determine the underlying violation of SECA, namely, whether or not the defendant communicated with minors for immoral purposes under RCW 9.68A.090. Had the jury so found, then that violation of SECA would have triggered the trial court's authority to determine the amount of reasonable attorneys' fees owed under RCW 9.68A.130 and CR 54(d).

The Court of Appeals simply reiterated the sound reasoning from *Kuhn*, which recognized that a jury could find for plaintiff on his or her underlying claims of sexual abuse, and still find that those facts did not constitute a violation of SECA. Assumptions to the contrary cannot be presumed.

In order for plaintiff to prevail here, this Court would have to assume that the jury would have found a SECA violation on the facts of

this case, despite a published appellate case that proves the folly in making such an assumption.

### 3. Plaintiff can cite to no authority which interprets RCW 9.68A.130 in a manner inconsistent with the Court of Appeals decision in this case.

Plaintiff can cite to no authority supporting the claim that RCW 9.68A.130 applies in the absence of a violation of RCW 9.68A, and therefore there can be no conflict with the Court of Appeals decision.

### a. C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop interpreted a different statute and presented very different facts than those present here.

First, contrary to plaintiff's claim, the Court's decision in *C.J.C. v. Corp. of the Catholic Bishop*, 138 Wn.2d 699, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) does not address the pertinent issues here and is therefore not in conflict with the Court of Appeals decision. The question presented in *C.J.C.* was a narrow one: "whether negligence claims brought against church entities and individual church officials who did not themselves directly perpetrate intentional acts of childhood sexual abuse, but who allegedly failed to protect the child victims or otherwise prevent the abuse, fall within the broad limitations period allowed under the statute [RCW 4.16.340]." *Id.* at 704-05. In holding that negligence claims were covered by RCW 4.16.340, the court noted that under the particular facts of the case, "Similarly, under the facts presented here, intentional sexual abuse is the predicate conduct upon which all claims are based, including the negligence claims. The alleged sexual abuse is essentially an element of the plaintiffs' negligence claims. Absent the abuse, plaintiffs would not have suffered any injury and their negligence claims could not stand." *Id.* at 709,

The C.J.C. analysis is inapposite to this case. Plaintiff seeks to oversimplify the record that was before the trial court. Contrary to the picture painted by plaintiff, this is not a case against one defendant for one course of conduct that arguably constituted communication with a minor for immoral purposes. If those were the facts of this case, this might be a different appeal. Here, plaintiff prevailed on a claim for false light against Sue Barr as well as garden variety negligence against PBA and Sue Barr. These claims are separate and independent from any claims arising out of RCW 9.68A, and the conduct complained of occurred outside the context of any alleged sexual conduct. The trial court and Court of Appeals correctly recognized that in such a circumstance, where the jury is asked to find against multiple defendants on multiple theories of liability, and there are no questions related to the factual basis for the jury's award, it is pure speculation to assume after the fact that the verdict was based on conduct arising out of a violation of RCW 9.68A. Accordingly, the denial of an award of fees and costs under RCW 9.68A.130 was not in error.

## b. Plaintiff's attempt to analogize other statutory schemes is unpersuasive.

Plaintiff's attempted analogy between RCW 9.68A and RCW 4.16.340 rests on logical fallacy. Plaintiff suggests that RCW 4.16.340 (a statute of limitation provision), which utilizes the term "childhood sexual abuse" and RCW 9.68A (a specific criminal statute), which utilizes the phrase "sexual exploitation of a minor," are essentially one in the same. Such a view ignores the fact that language matters and words have meaning. While violations of RCW 9.68A may fall under the larger umbrella of "childhood sexual abuse" it is logical fallacy to assume that a provision which, by its plain language, is expressly applicable only to violations of RCW 9.68A is somehow applicable to all claims that involve any allegations of "childhood sexual abuse," given the express limitation in the statute to claims for "sexual exploitation."

The same is true for the cost recovery statute found in RCW 4.84. RCW 9.68A and RCW 4.84 are not analogous statutes. The language of RCW 4.84.010 is much broader than RCW 9.68A. RCW 4.84.010 states in pertinent part that "there shall be allowed to the prevailing party upon the judgment certain sums for the prevailing party's expenses in the action, which allowances are termed costs, including, in addition to costs otherwise authorized by law, the following expenses..." Unlike RCW

9.68A, it does not require a party to have proved violation of a particular statutory scheme before costs will be awarded. It simply states that costs shall be awarded to the prevailing party. The particular basis, either factual or legal, for the jury's award is irrelevant under RCW 4.84.010, so long as plaintiff prevails. However, the particular basis for the jury's award is central to the application of RCW 9.68A.130.

# c. There is no CR 54(d) conflict because there is no factual basis to trigger a CR 54(d) analysis.

Nor is plaintiff's argument that the Court of Appeals decision stands in conflict with CR 54(d) accurate. Plaintiff spends a great deal of time in her brief discussing an alleged conflict between CR 54(d) and the Court of Appeals decision. There is no such conflict because plaintiff did not meet the factual predicate to trigger CR 54(d). *See Furnstahl*, 197 Wn. App. at 176, n. 9 ("However, in order to request an award of attorney fees pursuant to CR 54(d), Furnstahl first needed to establish that she had an underlying right for the trial court to grant her request."). *See also MRO Communs., Inc. v. AT&T Co.*, 197 F.3d 1276, 1280 (9th Cir. 1999) (interpreting FRCP 54(d)) ("Rule 54(d)(2) creates a procedure but not a right to recover attorneys' fees. *See* Advisory Committee Notes to Fed. R. Civ. P. 54(d)(2) (noting that Rule 54(d)(2) "establishes a procedure for presenting claims for attorneys' fees")). These defendants do not dispute that *if* plaintiff was the prevailing party on a claim arising out of a violation of RCW 9.68A that the subsequent analysis under CR 54(d) would be pertinent. However, this Court need not reach this issue because it is improperly framed. Under the facts of this case, the issue is who properly determines whether plaintiff has proved a violation of RCW 9.68A such that an award of fees is triggered, not the proper procedural mechanism by which fees are awarded after a violation is found. The answer to the former question is not found through a CR 54(d) analysis.

# B. There is no significant question of law under the State Constitution.

As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, Wash. Const. Art. I, Sect. 21 establishes an inviolate right to a trial by jury. Plaintiff contends that such a right does not apply here because RCW 9.68A deals only with awards of attorneys' fees. Plaintiff misapprehends the Court of Appeals analysis.

Contrary to plaintiff's argument, the right to have a jury decide the facts is a right guaranteed by our State Constitution.

[T]he province of the court—the trial judge—is to determine and decide questions of law presented at the trial and to state the law to the jury, while the province of the jury is to determine the facts of the case from the evidence adduced, in accordance with the instructions given by the court. Furnstahl, 197 Wn. App. at 175.

There is no analogy to frivolous claims. Frivolous claims are by their definition claims that have no purpose or value. In such a case, it is understandable that a court, not a jury, has the authority to deal with such claims. However, plaintiff can hardly be arguing that the determination of whether a certain set of facts constitutes a SECA violation is somehow analogous to a finding that the claim has no serious purpose. There can be no doubt that finding a SECA violation is the type of decision clearly within Wash. Const. Art. I, Sect. 21. See Furnstahl, 197 Wn. App. at 175 ("Pursuant to RCW 9.68A.130, a minor is entitled to an award of attorney fees when he or she prevails in a civil action arising from a violation of a specific provision of chapter 9.68A RCW. Thus, the core determination is whether the prevailing party established the predicate for entitlementthat an act or acts constituting a violation of a specific provision of chapter RCW 9.68A was proved. Therefore, fact-finding is necessary to determine whether such a violation was proved.")

# C. There is no substantial public interest which should be determined by this Court.

While society certainly has an interest in protecting victims of sexual exploitation, straightforward application of unambiguous statutory relief is hardly a matter of substantial public interest. The Court of Appeals did not interpret RCW 9.68A.130. It did not invite "unnecessary litigation" or "create confusion." *State v. Watson*, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005). Rather, the court gave effect to the plain meaning of the statute.

#### V. CONCLUSION

At trial, plaintiff made no claim that either Sue Barr or PBA violated SECA, nor were there any facts presented that would raise a colorable claim against these two defendants under SECA. Therefore, under the plain language of the statute, there is no basis for an award of attorneys' fees under RCW 9.68A.130, and the trial court's ruling was correct.

Plaintiff's attempted post-verdict motion requesting that the trial judge find a SECA violation is improper because that question was never asked of the jury. Plaintiff seeks to have this Court determine the jury's factual basis of their verdict and further determine whether or not those facts amount to a SECA violation. This is not a proper function of the trial or appellate courts. There can be no award of attorneys' fees unless there was a SECA violation, and it is simply inappropriate for judges to speculate as to the reasoning and basis for the jury's decision when such an issue could have been raised directly with the jury itself. As there is no record upon which to determine that the jury found a SECA violation, an award of fees under RCW 9.68A.130 is improper.